
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA

ATLANTA DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :
                         : CRIMINAL INDICTMENT NO.

     v. :
:

LINDA C. SCHRENKO,  :
MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and  :
A. STEPHAN BOTES :

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:
COUNT ONE
(Conspiracy)

1. Beginning in or about June 2002 and continuing through in or about October 2004, the
exact dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Georgia and elsewhere, the
defendants, LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and A. STEPHAN BOTES, did knowingly
and willfully combine, conspire, confederate, agree, and have a tacit understanding with each other and
others known and unknown to the Grand Jury to commit the following offenses against the United States:

A.  To embezzle, steal, obtain by fraud, convert, and misapply property that was valued at over
$5,000 and was owned by and under the care, custody, and control of a State governmental agency which
received in a one year period benefits in excess of $10,000 under a Federal program, in violation of Title
18, United States Code, Section 666(a)(1)(A); and

B.  To knowingly and willfully devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the
State of Georgia and its citizens of money and property and the good, faithful and honest services of
defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO in her capacity as State School Superintendent, and to obtain money
and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises and
execute said scheme by means of wire transmission in interstate and foreign commerce, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 1346. 
BACKGROUND

At all times relevant to this Indictment:
2. Defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO served as the elected State School Superintendent for

the State of Georgia from January 1995 through January 2003.  As the State School Superintendent,
defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO had a duty to provide honest services to the citizens of the State of
Georgia and to act in the public's best interest, free of partiality, willful omission, bias, dishonesty,
conflict of interest, and fraud.

3.  During 2002, defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO was a candidate for Governor of the State of
Georgia.  As a candidate for Governor, defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO was prohibited from receiving
more than $5,000 from any single donor during the primary, and she was required to file reports with the
Secretary of State disclosing the names of each donor who gave more than $100.

4.  Defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., served as Deputy State School Superintendent from March
1, 2001 to February 28, 2002, having been appointed to that position by defendant LINDA C.
SCHRENKO.  Between March 1, 2002, and July 5, 2002, defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., worked as an



hourly employee of the Georgia Department of Education.  On July 5, 2002, defendant MERLE TEMPLE,
JR., resigned his hourly employee position and began working full-time on defendant LINDA C.
SCHRENKO's campaign for Governor.  Following defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO's defeat in the
gubernatorial primary election in August 2002, defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., returned to his position
as Deputy Superintendent and served in that position until January 2003.

5.  Defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES, a South African national lawfully residing in the United
States, was the owner, President and Chief Executive Officer of Computer Consulting Services
Corporation ("CCSC"), with offices located at 200 Ashford Center North, Suite 370, Atlanta, Georgia
30338.  CCSC was in the business of providing computer consultation services to its clients.  Defendant
A. STEPHAN BOTES also was the Chief Executive Officer of Uniting Networks, Inc., which had its
offices located at 200 Ashford Center North, Suite 350, Atlanta, Georgia 30338.  In the summer of 2002,
defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES caused the following corporate entities to be created for the purpose of
receiving payments from the Georgia Department of Education: Majestix LLC, Maverix Corporation, and
Proactive Research LLC.
OBJECT

6.  It was the object of the conspiracy for the defendants, LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE
TEMPLE, JR., and A. STEPHAN BOTES, to obtain federal funds administered by the State of Georgia
Department of Education by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises for the purpose of secretly funneling a portion of those funds to defendants LINDA C.
SCHRENKO and MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and the gubernatorial campaign of defendant LINDA C.
SCHRENKO.

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY
 7. Among the manner and means by which the defendants and their co-conspirators would
and did carry out the conspiracy and effect its unlawful objects were the following:
  A. Defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO directed the State of Georgia Department of
Education to issue checks in the amount of $50,000 or less, totaling over $500,000, to companies created
and controlled by defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES without receiving goods or services from these
companies and prior to executing contracts with these companies.

B.  Defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES directed a subordinate employee of CCSC to funnel a total
of approximately $250,000 of the funds obtained from the State of Georgia Department of Education
directly and indirectly to defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO and MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and to others
for the benefit of the gubernatorial campaign of defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO through a series of
cash payments and disguised financial transactions.

C.  Defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES caused over $60,000 of the funds obtained from the State of
Georgia Department of Education to be delivered to defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO and MERLE
TEMPLE, JR., via 104 blank checks, each in the amount of $590, written on four different bank accounts.

D.  Defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES caused approximately $30,000 of the funds obtained from
the State of Georgia Department of Education to be paid to third parties on behalf of the gubernatorial
campaign of defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO. 

E.  Defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES caused a total of over $50,000 of the funds obtained from
the State of Georgia Department of Education to be delivered to defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO and
MERLE TEMPLE, JR., in cash payments. 

F.  Defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES caused approximately $100,000 of the funds obtained from
the State of Georgia Department of Education to be delivered to defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., via
wiring of funds, including through a foreign bank account.  Defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., delivered
approximately $40,000 of the funds he received from defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES to defendant
LINDA C. SCHRENKO and her campaign through a series of financial transactions intended to disguise
the source of the funds.

G.  Defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and A. STEPHAN BOTES,
endeavored to conceal the fraudulent scheme by executing back-dated contracts, devising false cover



stories, and making materially false statements to State of Georgia auditors and the public.   
OVERT ACTS

8. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the objects and purposes thereof, the
defendants, LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and A. STEPHAN BOTES, and others
known and unknown to the Grand Jury, committed overt acts in the Northern District of Georgia and
elsewhere, including, but not limited to, the following:

A.  On or about June 3, 2002, defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and
A. STEPHAN BOTES, attended a meeting at the offices of CCSC.

B.  In or about June 2002, defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO caused the State of Georgia
Department of Education (GDOE) to issue two checks to CCSC, one in the amount of $50,000, and one in
the amount of $32,493.50, purportedly to provide software licenses and a technology needs assessment for
the Governor's Honors Program.

C.  On or about June 27, 2002, defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES caused the two GDOE checks to
be deposited into a CCSC bank account.

D.  On or about June 28, 2002, defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES told the CCSC Controller that he
needed to get approximately $60,000 under the radar to the gubernatorial campaign of defendant LINDA
C. SCHRENKO.

E.  On or about June 28, 2002, as directed by defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES, the CCSC
Controller signed twenty-seven blank CCSC checks each in the amount of $590.  On the memo line of
each $590 check, the CCSC Controller wrote: "Focus Group Honoraria."

F.  On or about June 28, 2002, as directed by defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES, the CCSC
Controller transferred $16,500 from CCSC to a bank account in the name of Uniting Networks, Inc.
("UNI") and signed twenty-seven blank UNI checks each in the amount of $590.  On the memo line of
each $590 check, the CCSC Controller wrote: "Focus Group Honoraria."

G.  On or about June 28, 2002, as directed by defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES, the CCSC
Controller transferred $16,500 from CCSC to a bank account in the name of Curti Consulting Group
("Curti") and signed twenty-seven blank Curti checks each in the amount of $590.  On the memo line of
each $590 check, the CCSC Controller wrote: "Focus Group Honoraria."

H.  On or about June 28, 2002, as directed by defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES, the CCSC
Controller transferred $13,600 from CCSC to a bank account for Business Mailing Services ("BMS"), and
caused BMS to issue twenty-three blank checks each in the amount of $590.  The memo line of each of
the $590 BMS checks states: "Focus Group Honoraria."

I.  On or about June 28, 2002, as directed by defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES, the CCSC
Controller collected all 104 of the blank $590 "focus group" checks issued by CCSC, Curti, UNI, and
BMS, and he placed them in an envelope along with approximately $6,000 in cash.  That same day,
defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES directed the CCSC Controller to deliver the envelope of cash and blank
checks to a GDOE employee who in turn delivered the envelope to defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR.

J.  In and around July and August 2002, defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO and MERLE
TEMPLE, JR., caused the $590 "focus group" checks to be issued to various individuals who cashed the
checks and used a portion of the proceeds to make contributions to the gubernatorial campaign of
defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO.

K. On or about July 1, 2002, defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES directed the CCSC Controller to
transfer $15,000 from CCSC to the UNI bank account, and to subsequently transfer $15,000 from the UNI
account to the Curti bank account, and to then issue a check in the amount of $15,000 from the Curti
account to a public opinion polling firm to pay for a political poll for the gubernatorial campaign of
defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO. 

L.  In or around July 2002, defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., told an individual that defendant
LINDA C. SCHRENKO could issue contracts under $50,000 for the GDOE, and defendant MERLE
TEMPLE, JR., solicited that individual to obtain funds from the GDOE via such a contract and then



provide a portion of those funds to the gubernatorial campaign of defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO. 
M.  In or around July 2002, defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES told the CCSC Controller that

CCSC was going to receive approximately $500,000 from the GDOE but they would have to funnel
approximately $200,000 of it back to defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO and her campaign.  Defendant A.
STEPHAN BOTES told the CCSC Controller that the $500,000 would be subdivided into amounts of less
than $50,000 so that defendant LINDA C. SHRENKO could approve the payments as sole source
contracts, and that the payments would have to be made to other entities in addition to CCSC.

N.  In or around July 2002, defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES directed the CCSC Controller to set
up shell corporations and open bank accounts in the names Majestix LLC, Maverix Corpration, and
ProActive Research LLC to receive, along with CCSC and UNI, funds from the GDOE to be shared with
defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO and her campaign.

O.  On or about July 24, 2002, defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO personally directed a GDOE
employee to prepare eleven hand drawn checks, each less than $50,000, made payable to CCSC, Majestix
LLC, Maverix Corporation, ProActive Research LLC, and UNI, purportedly to provide software licenses,
software maintenance, and/or computer  courses for the Atlanta Area School for the Deaf, the Georgia
School for the Deaf, and the Governor's Honors Program.

P.  On or about July 24, 2002, as directed by defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO, the GDOE
employee prepared three checks for CCSC in the amounts of $49,900, $48,850, and $48,850, three checks
for UNI in the amounts of $49,598, $49,898, and $49,898, two checks for Proactive Research, each in the
amount of $45,000, two checks for Maverix, each in the amount of $47,500, and one check for Majestic in
the amount of $49,900.  These checks were delivered to the offices of CCSC and deposited into the
respective bank accounts on July 25 and 26, 2002.

Q.  On or about July 26, 2002, defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES told the CCSC Controller that he
needed to move more money into defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO's campaign, and defendant A.
STEPHAN BOTES directed the CCSC Controller to take money out of the company in transactions under
$10,000.  

R.  On or about July 26, 2002, at the direction of defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES, the CCSC
Controller issued $8,000 checks from the UNI bank account to himself and two other CCSC employees,
and all three individuals cashed the checks and provided the money to the CCSC Controller who obtained
an additional $8,000 in cash using a debit memo.  The CCSC Controller placed the $32,000 in cash he
collected from these transaction into an envelope, and defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES directed the
CCSC Controller to bring the envelope of  cash to a meeting the next day with defendant MERLE
TEMPLE, JR.  

S.  On or about July 27, 2002, the CCSC Controller attended a breakfast meeting with defendants
A. STEPHAN BOTES and MERLE TEMPLE, JR., at a hotel in Atlanta, and following the meeting, the
CCSC Controller gave the envelope filled with $32,000 in cash to defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., as
directed by defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES.   

T.  On or about July 27, 2002, defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., traveled from Atlanta, Georgia
to Tupelo, Mississippi, where he engaged in financial transactions through his mother's bank account
involving depositing four of the $590 "focus group" checks into her account and obtaining a check for
himself in the amount of $2,360, and depositing $5,000 in cash into her account and obtaining a $5,000
check written to the campaign of defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO.

U.  On or about July 31, 2002, defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES directed the CCSC Controller to
transfer $10,000 to a third party to pay an expense for the gubernatorial campaign of defendant LINDA C.
SCHRENKO.

V.  In or about late July and early August 2002, defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO and MERLE
TEMPLE, JR., offered and provided cash to members of defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO's family to be
used to fund contributions to defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO's campaign.

W.  On or about August 1, 2002, defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO and MERLE TEMPLE, JR.,



caused $11,210 worth of "focus group" checks to be negotiated through the bank account of a member of
defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO's family.

X.  On or about August 2, 2002, defendant STEPHAN A. BOTES told the CCSC Controller that
he needed to get additional money into defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO's campaign.  Defendant A.
STEPHAN BOTES directed the CCSC Controller to write checks on the CCSC bank account to the
Controller and two other CCSC employees for $5,000 each and provide the cash to BOTES to deliver to
defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO.  The CCSC Controller did as he was directed and provided $15,000 in
cash to defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES on or about August 2, 2002.

Y.  On or about August 2, 2002, defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES directed the CCSC Controller
to wire transfer $50,000 from the UNI account to a foreign bank account, and on or about August 9, 2002,
defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES caused $40,000 to be wire transferred from the foreign account to an
account in the name of Paradigm Pioneers, which had been opened in Augusta, Georgia, on or about July
31, 2002 by defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR. 

Z.  On or about August 12, 2002, defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES directed the CCSC Controller
to wire transfer $61,000 from the UNI account to an account in the name of Global Executive
Management-United States, and then to wire transfer $60,000 from the Global Executive Management-
United States account to the Paradigm Pioneers account of defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR.

AA.  On or about August 15, 2002, defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., withdrew $30,000 from the
Paradigm Partners account and purchased a bank check for $30,000 which he provided to defendant
LINDA C. SCHRENKO who deposited the bank check into her personal account and wrote a check to her
campaign from her personal account in the amount of $30,000.

BB.  On or about August 7, 2002, defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., provided defendant LINDA
C. SCHRENKO a bank check in the amount of $16,200, which she deposited into her personal bank
account and wrote a check from that account in the amount of $16,200 to her campaign.

CC.  On or about August 8, 2002, defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO and MERLE TEMPLE,
JR., caused a materially false campaign disclosure report to be filed with the Georgia Secretary of State in
that the report failed to accurately disclose the true source of some donations to the campaign.

DD.  In or about August 2002, during an audit by the Georgia Department of Audits and
Accounts, defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and A. STEPHAN BOTES
caused back-dated contracts to be created to cover the over $500,000 worth of GDOE checks issued to the
companies created and controlled by defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES.

EE.  On or about September 14, 2002, defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., caused $9,300 of the
proceeds transferred into the Paradigm Pioneers account by defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES to be paid to
a physician for cosmetic surgery for defendant LINDA C. SCHRENKO.

FF.  On or about September 30, 2002, defendant MERLE TEMPLE, JR., caused $40,000 of the
proceeds transferred into the Paradigm Pioneers account by defendant A. STEPHAN BOTES to be
transferred to his personal investment account.

GG.  Between July 2002 and October 2004, the defendants, LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE
TEMPLE, JR., and A. STEPHAN BOTES, attempted to conceal their fraudulent conduct by devising false
cover stories and making materially false statements to co-conspirators, investigators, and the public.    

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

COUNTS TWO THROUGH TWELVE
(Theft of Federal Funds)

9. The Grand Jury realleges paragraphs 2 through  8 of this Indictment as if fully set forth
herein.

10. On or about July 24, 2002, in the Northern District of Georgia, defendant LINDA C.
SCHRENKO, being an agent of the State of Georgia Department of Education, a government agency that
received in a one-year period benefits in excess of $10,000 under a Federal program involving a grant and



other forms of Federal assistance, aided and abetted by defendants MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and A.
STEPHAN BOTES, as well as others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did embezzle, steal, obtain
by fraud, knowingly convert to the use of persons other than the rightful owner, and intentionally
misapply property valued at more than $5,000 owned by and under the care, custody, and control of the
State of Georgia Department of Education, as follows:
COUNT   DATE AMOUNT PAYEE
 2    7/24/02 $49,900 Computer Consulting Services Corp.
 3    7/24/02 $48,850 Computer Consulting Services Corp.
 4    7/24/02 $48,850 Computer Consulting Services Corp.
 5    7/24/02 $49,900 Majestix LLC
 6    7/24/02 $47,500 Maverix Corp.
 7    7/24/02 $47,500 Maverix Corp.
 8    7/24/02 $45,000 Proactive Research
 9    7/24/02 $45,000 Proactive Research
 10     7/24/02 $49,598 Uniting Networks, Inc.
 11    7/24/02 $49,898 Uniting Networks, Inc.
 12    7/24/02 $49,898 Uniting Networks, Inc.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 666(a)(1)(A) and 2.

 COUNTS THIRTEEN THROUGH EIGHTEEN
(Wire Fraud)

11. The Grand Jury realleges paragraphs 2 through  8 of this Indictment as if fully set forth
herein.

12. From in or about June 2002, through in or about October 2004, in the Northern District of
Georgia and elsewhere, the defendants, LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and A.
STEPHAN BOTES, aided and abetted by each other and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury,
did knowingly and willfully devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the State of
Georgia and its citizens of money and property and the good, faithful and honest services of defendant
LINDA C. SCHRENKO in her capacity as State School Superintendent, and to obtain money and property
by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.

13. On or about the dates set forth below, in the Northern District of Georgia, the defendants,
LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and A. STEPHAN BOTES, aided and abetted by each
other and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, for the purpose of executing and attempting to
execute the aforesaid scheme and artifice, did cause to be transmitted in interstate commerce between
Georgia and New Jersey for Counts Thirteen through Sixteen and in foreign commerce between Georgia
and South Africa for Counts Seventeen and Eighteen, by means of a wire communication, certain signs,
signals, and sounds, as identified below:
   COUNT DATE WIRE TRANSMISSION

13 6/28/02 Wire transfer of $16,500
from CCSC to UNI

14 6/28/02 Wire transfer of $13,600
from CCSC to BMS

15 7/01/02 Wire transfer of $15,000
from CCSC to UNI

16 7/26/02 Wire transfer of $10,000



from UNI to Defendant BOTES     
17 8/02/02 Wire transfer of $50,000

from UNI to GEM-Bermuda

18 8/10/02 Facsimile transmission of instructions to wire
transfer $40,000 from GEM-Bermuda to Paradigm Pioneers

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 1346 and 2.
ASSET FORFEITURE

14. The allegations of Counts One through Eighteen of this Indictment are realleged and
incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeitures to the United States of America pursuant
to the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 981(a)(1)(C) and 982, and Title 28, United
States Code, Section 2461.

15. Upon conviction of one or more of the offenses alleged in Counts One through Eighteen,
defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and A. STEPHAN BOTES shall forfeit to
the United States, any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable
to a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 666 and 1346, pursuant to Title 18, United States
Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461.

16. In addition, upon conviction one or more of the offenses alleged in Counts Two through
Twelve, defendants LINDA C. SCHRENKO, MERLE TEMPLE, JR., and A. STEPHAN BOTES shall
forfeit to the United States any property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, which represents or is
traceable to such property, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982, including but not limited
to, $614,387.50 in United States Currency and all interest and property traceable thereto, in that such sum
in aggregate constitutes the gross proceeds traceable to the commission of  offenses in violation of Title
18, United States Code, Sections 666(a)(1), as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 24, and is
therefore forfeited pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(3).

17. The types of property which may be forfeited to satisfy the claim include, but are not
limited to, the foregoing property, any property, real or personal, traceable to the foregoing property and
any "substitute" property, as defined in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), and as incorporated
by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b), of a value equal to any and all assets identified
specifically, which a) has or have been transferred, sold or deposited with a third party; b) which cannot
be located by due diligence; c) which has or have been placed beyond the jurisdiction of this court; d)
which has or have been substantially diminished in value, or e) which has or have been co-mingled with
other property and cannot be divided without difficulty.

     A                       BILL

                                  
    FOREPERSON

SALLY QUILLIAN YATES
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
Georgia Bar No.  591250

RUSSELL G. VINEYARD
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY



Georgia Bar No. 727890

DANIEL A. CALDWELL
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
Georgia Bar No. 102510  

600 U.S. Courthouse
75 Spring Street, S.W.
Atlanta, GA 30303
404/581-6000 Tel.
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